IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC07-953

JOE ELTON NIXON, Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, LEON COUNTY, FLORIDA

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ERIC M. FREEDMAN Attorney for Joe Elton Nixon Law Offices of Eric M. Freedman 250 West 94th Street New York, NY 10025 Tel: 212-665-2713 Fax: 212-665-2714 Florida Bar No.: Admitted Pro Hac Vice ERIC S. O'CONNOR Attorney for Joe Elton Nixon Sheppard, Mullin, Richter & Hampton LLP 30 Rockefeller Plaza, 24th Floor New York, NY 10112 Tel: 212-332-3800 Fax: 212-332-3888 Florida Bar No.: Admitted Pro Hac Vice

I. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This appeal from a determination by the Circuit Court that the defendant in a capital case was not mentally retarded turns primarily on a single question of law: should this Court adhere to its ruling in <u>Cherry v. State</u>, 959 So. 2d 702 (Fla. 2007), that the Florida statutory definition of mental retardation imposes a rigid IQ ceiling of 70?

In the court below, the state did not even attempt to contest the overwhelming evidence of Joe Elton Nixon's sub-average intellectual functioning or his deficits in adaptive behavior. Its expert's opinion that Mr. Nixon was not retarded was based exclusively on the proposition that an obtained IQ score of 80 was dispositive of the issue. Mr. Nixon's expert, on the other hand, concluded that a full review of the record supported the conclusion that Mr. Nixon's actual IQ was 73. This value, he testified, was consistent with a finding of mental retardation in light of the fact – which the state's expert readily conceded (October 23, 2006 Motion Hearing Transcript, at SR5. Vols. 8-9 ("MH Tr."), at 216:15-217:25.) – that the profession recognizes that mental retardation, considering the standard error of measure, may appropriately be diagnosed in individuals with measured IQ scores as high as 75.

The Circuit Court rejected this testimony as legally irrelevant: "Essentially, Dr. Keyes' testimony is that the standard error of measure means that 75 is the lower limit of eligibility for the death penalty – the same testimony rejected by the Florida Supreme Court in <u>Cherry</u>," (Circuit Court Order, dated April 26, 2007 ("Final Order"), p. 16, at SR5. 1240.) a precedent that the Circuit Court noted it "was without authority to reconsider." (Final Order, p. 25, at SR5. 1249.).

Because of its view of the binding effect of <u>Cherry</u> – which it described as "by far the most instructive of [this] Court's opinions for resolving the issues raised here" (Final Order, p. 7, at SR5. 1231.) – the Circuit Court found that Dr. Keyes's methodology was "inconsistent both with the plain language of the statute and the Florida Supreme Court's authority." (Final Order, p. 17, at SR5. 1241 (footnote citing <u>Cherry</u> omitted).). Its further conclusion "as an evidentiary matter" that Dr. Keyes's approach "is unpersuasive," (Final Order, p. 17, at SR5. 1241.) flowed from this premise: his testimony "was essentially an argument for the law to be something other than what it is" and was "of no evidentiary value at all" because it simply amounted "to disagree[ment] with the standard the Legislature established." (Final Order, pp. 19, 20, at SR5. 1243, 1244.).

If indeed <u>Cherry</u> controls, the decision below should be affirmed since Mr. Nixon's own contention was that his true IQ score was 73. But if, as we argue below, the ruling in <u>Cherry</u> cannot be reconciled with the Constitution, then there should be a reversal so that the Circuit Court may conduct further proceedings in which it views the facts through the correct legal lens. In particular, it should be firmly directed that the categorical exclusion from death-eligibility for mentally retarded defendants established by the Supreme Court of the United States in <u>Atkins v. Virginia</u>, 536 U.S. 304 (2002), applies in every case, including ones where the judge's opinion is that the crime committed by the defendant is one – a deliberate "torture murder" – which reveals no evidence of diminished culpability. Not only has the contrary policy determination already been made as a matter of binding federal constitutional law, but, as the record here reveals, adopting that reasoning compounds the <u>Atkins</u> violation by basing decision-making on constitutionally unreliable "confessions."

To conform with the federal Constitution, the proceedings on remand must also be governed by an appropriate burden of proof, give Mr. Nixon the same constitutional rights respecting his mental retardation determination as current defendants enjoy, and allow him to litigate his claim that mental illness precludes his execution.

II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Joe Elton Nixon was charged, convicted, and sentenced to death for the 1984 murder of a Tallahassee woman. This Court affirmed the conviction and sentence on direct appeal. <u>See Nixon v. State</u>, 572 So. 2d 1336 (Fla. 1990) ("<u>Nixon I</u>").

Mr. Nixon filed a motion pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 raising numerous claims. This was summarily denied by the Circuit Court, resulting in a reversal by this Court for an evidentiary hearing on the narrow issue of whether Mr. Nixon had consented to his attorney's strategy of conceding guilt in opening statement. <u>Nixon v. Singletary</u>, 758 So. 2d 618 (Fla. 2000) ("<u>Nixon II</u>").

On remand, the Circuit Court ruled adversely to Mr. Nixon and was again reversed by this Court. <u>Nixon v. State</u>, 857 So. 2d 172 (Fla. 2003) ("<u>Nixon III</u>"). That ruling was in turn reversed by the United States Supreme Court, which held that this Court had applied an erroneous legal standard in evaluating the claim. <u>Florida v. Nixon</u>, 543 U.S. 175 (2004).

On remand from that decision, this Court addressed and rejected most of Mr. Nixon's remaining claims. <u>Nixon v. State</u>, 932 So. 2d 1009 (2006) ("<u>Nixon</u> <u>IV</u>"). With respect to the issue of mental retardation, which Mr. Nixon had presented in a petition for a writ of habeas corpus, this Court ruled that it should be pursued by means of a motion pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.203 within sixty days. <u>See Nixon IV</u>, 932 So. 2d at 1024.

Accordingly, on June 19, 2006 Mr. Nixon filed a timely motion and supporting brief pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.203 and 3.851 claiming that his conviction and sentence of death are violative of, *inter alia*, the reasoning and holding in <u>Atkins v. Virginia</u>, 536 U.S. 304 (2002). (Motion Under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.203 and 3.851, at SR5. 1-570; Brief in Support of Motion Under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.203 and 3.851 ("Rule 3.203 Brief"), at SR5. 575-622.). The State responded

-4-

in writing on July 11, 2006. (Response to Motion Under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.203 and 3.851 Regarding Nixon's Allegations of Mental Retardation as a Bar to Imposition of the Death Penalty, at SR5. 923-50.). Mr. Nixon filed a reply brief on July 18, 2006. (Reply Brief in Further Support of Joe Elton Nixon's Motion Under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.203 and 3.851, at SR5. 957-64.).

On October 11, 2006, in advance of a scheduled evidentiary hearing, counsel for Mr. Nixon asked the Circuit Court to address several legal matters raised by Mr. Nixon's Rule 3.203 Motion in order to guide the parties in their preparation for and conduct of the hearing. (Letter from Eric O'Connor to the Hon. Jonathan E. Sjostrom, dated October 11, 2006 ("Oct. 11 Letter"), p. 2).

On October 17, 2007, the Circuit Court held that: (i) "Mr. Nixon bears the burden of proof ...", citing <u>Trotter v. State</u>, 932 So. 2d 1045 (Fla. 2006), and <u>Foster v. State</u>, 929 So. 2d 524 (Fla. 2006); (ii) "Mr. Nixon's assertions that the issues of mental retardation must be determined by a jury and that the state is required to disprove mental retardation beyond a reasonable doubt are foreclosed by controlling authority", citing <u>Arbelaez v. State</u>, 898 So. 2d 25 (Fla. 2005); and (iii) "As regards the constitutional claim that Rule 3.203 is unconstitutional because it does not permit the assertion of a mental illness claim, relitigation of Mr. Nixon's mental illness apart from retardation is foreclosed by the Florida Supreme Court's decision squarely addressing such issues in [Nixon IV]. The evidentiary hearing is

limited to the mental retardation issue and will not be expanded beyond the mental retardation issue established in <u>Atkins</u> and its progeny." (Circuit Court Order, dated October 17, 2006 ("Oct. 17 Order"), pp. 2-3, at SR5. 1141-43.).

The evidentiary hearing was held on October 23, 2006. The State presented the testimony and report of Dr. Gregory A. Prichard; Mr. Nixon presented the testimony of Dr. Denis Keyes. On January 8, 2007, the State and Mr. Nixon filed their post-hearing briefs. (Joe Nixon's Post-Hearing Brief in Support of his Motion Under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.203 and 3.851 ("Nixon Post-Hearing Brief"), at SR5. 1151-83; Post-Hearing Memorandum Regarding Nixon's Allegations of Mental Retardation as a Bar to Imposition of the Death Penalty, at SR5. 1184-1213.).

On April 12, 2007, the State filed a Notice of Supplemental Authority, citing <u>Cherry v. State</u>, 959 So. 2d 702 (Fla. 2007) and <u>Brown v. State</u>, 959 So. 2d 146 (Fla. 2007). On April 18, 2007, Mr. Nixon responded in a motion whose principal contention was that Florida Statute Section 921.137, as interpreted by <u>Cherry</u>, violates the Constitution of the United States and the corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution. (Defendant Joe Elton Nixon's Motion to Declare Florida Statute Section 921.137 Unconstitutional, at SR5. 1214-24.).

On April 26, 2007, the Circuit Court issued its final order: (i) denying Mr. Nixon's April 18, 2007 motion to declare Section 921.137 of the Florida Statues unconstitutional; (ii) holding that, for the reasons already discussed, Mr. Nixon's presentation failed to show that he was mentally retarded; and (iii) concluding, after a detailed five-page discussion of the crime as revealed in the 50-page confession annexed to the opinion as an exhibit, that the policy bases of the Supreme Court's holding in <u>Atkins</u> were inapplicable to this case because Mr. Nixon does not display any evidence of impulsivity or suggestibility that would support diminished culpability. (Final Order, at SR5. 1225-1301.).

III. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

POINT I: This Court Should Re-Consider Its Decision In Cherry

As indicated, the Court below rejected the evidence of mental retardation

proffered by Mr. Nixon, who asserted that his IQ was 73,¹ because this Court held

in Cherry that Florida Statute Section 921.137(1) imposes a rigid IQ ceiling of 70.

Unless it agrees with Mr. Nixon that the State has waived this argument,² or

concludes that <u>Cherry</u> does not apply to this case,³ this Court should revisit <u>Cherry</u>

¹ <u>See</u> Nixon Post-Hearing Brief, pp. 24-25, at SR5.1180-81 ("the most accurate single-number estimate ... [of his IQ score is] 73, which is within the range of scores of individuals classified as mentally retarded.").

² Mr. Nixon argued below that the Florida statutory scheme does not contain an absolute IQ cutoff score of 70 in order for a defendant to be found mentally retarded. (Rule 3.203 Brief, pp. 19-21 & n. 16-19, at SR5. 603-5.). The State, which had explicitly agreed with that view in other cases before this Court (Rule 3.203 Brief, n. 19, at SR5. 605.), did not dispute this position. Indeed, at the evidentiary hearing in this case, the State's expert specifically agreed that the Florida statute has no bright-line cutoff score of 70, and that mental retardation could appropriately be diagnosed in a person with an obtained IQ (footnote continued)

since the effect of that ruling is to write a definition of mental retardation that is inconsistent with federal constitutional law.

A. <u>The Cherry Definition Violates Atkins</u>

Florida Statute Section 921.137(1) defines "significantly subaverage general intellectual functioning" to mean "performance that is two or more standard deviations from the mean score on a standardized intelligence test specified in the rules of the Department of Children and Family Services." <u>See FLA. STAT. ANN.</u> § 921.137(1) (2006).⁴ In <u>Cherry</u>, this Court interpreted Section 921.137(1) to require a defendant to prove that his IQ score meets a strict cut-off score of 70 or below. <u>See Cherry</u>, 959 So. 2d at 711-14. This Court then held that "Cherry does

score as high as 75. (MH Tr. at 187:20-188:12, 215:4-216:7.). Under these circumstances, if the Court does not hold that the State has waived any argument that the Florida statute has an absolute cutoff score of 70, Mr. Nixon contends that the <u>Cherry</u> interpretation of the statute – applied to him without warning after the close of the evidentiary proceedings – so far exceeds a fair reading of it as to constitute a denial of due process under <u>Bouie v. City of</u> <u>Columbia</u>, 378 U.S. 347 (1964).

³ Florida Statute Section 921.137, which <u>Cherry</u> construed, is not applicable to Mr. Nixon. <u>See</u> FLA. STAT. § 921.137(8) (2006). Fla. R. Cr. Pro. 3.203, under which Mr. Nixon proceeded, uses similar language, but need not be construed the same way – and, in light of the considerations urged herein, should not be.

⁴ The staff analysis preceding Florida Statute Section 921.137 states: "The Department of Children and Family Services does not currently have a rule. Instead the department has established criteria favoring the nationally recognized Stanford-Binet and Wechsler Series tests. In practice, two or more standard deviations from these test mean that the person has an IQ of 70 or less, although it can be extended up to 75."

not meet the first prong of the mental retardation determination [under Section 921.137 because] Cherry's IQ score of 72 does not fall within the statutory range for mental retardation." <u>Id.</u> at 714.

The <u>Cherry</u> Court asserted that its interpretation of the Florida statute was permissible because in <u>Atkins</u>, 536 U.S. 304 (holding that the Eighth Amendment prohibits the execution of a mentally retarded person), the United States Supreme Court "left to the states the task of setting specific rules in their determination statutes." <u>See Cherry</u>, 959 So. 2d at 713 (<u>citing Atkins</u>, 536 U.S. at 317).

However, in <u>Atkins</u>, the Supreme Court defined mental retardation in accord with the consensus in the scientific community. <u>See Atkins</u>, 536 U.S. at 309 n.3 (quoting the definition of the AAMR, MENTAL RETARDATION: DEFINITION, CLASSIFICATION, AND SYSTEMS OF SUPPORTS 5 (9th ed. 1992) ("AAMR") and the APA, DIAGNOSTIC AND STATISTICAL MANUAL OF MENTAL DISORDERS 41 (4th ed. 2000) ("DSM")). And, as found by the Court in <u>Atkins</u>, the consensus in the scientific community recognizes that an "IQ score between 70 and 75 or lower" is "typically considered the cutoff score for the intellectual function prong." <u>Atkins</u>, 536 U.S. at 309 n.5 (<u>quoting 2 B. SADOCK & V. SADOCK</u>, COMPREHENSIVE TEXT BOOK OF PSYCHIATRY 2952 (7th ed. 2000)).⁵

⁵ As noted, the State's expert readily agreed with that proposition. When he was read the statement from the current edition of the DSM, "it is possible to (footnote continued)

Thus, the statement of the Supreme Court of the United States that states are permitted to "develop[] appropriate ways to enforce the constitutional restriction upon [their] execution of sentences," <u>Atkins</u>, 536 U.S. at 317, means, in the context of this prong of the mental retardation definition, no more than that the states are permitted to establish procedures to determine whether a capital defendant's IQ score is 75 or below on a standardized intelligence test.

Accordingly, this Court's requirement in <u>Cherry</u> that a defendant prove that his IQ score meets a strict cut-off score of 70 or below violates the clear dictates of <u>Atkins</u> and is unconstitutional under the Eighth Amendment and Section 17 of Article I of the Florida Constitution.

B. <u>To Deprive Nixon Of His Life On The Basis Of "Junk Science" Violates</u> <u>Federal And State Due Process Standards</u>

This Court here is asked to reach a conclusion respecting a scientific fact, one that will form the basis of a "binding legal judgment – . . . of great consequence – about a particular set of events in the past." <u>Daubert v. Merrell</u> Dow Pharm., Inc., 509 U.S. 579, 597 (1993). If the evidence in support of the

diagnose mental retardation in individuals with IQ scores between 71 and 75 if they have significant deficits in adaptive behavior that meet the criteria for mental retardation," he responded, "Correct. I would agree with that, yes." (MH Tr. at 216:15-22.). Indeed, the government relied on this same witness in the <u>Cherry</u> case, in which he testified that mental retardation could not be ruled out based on the obtained IQ score of 72. (MH Tr. at 216:23-217:25; Psychological Evaluation by Dr. Prichard, presented Oct. 23, 2006, Def. Exh. 8, at SR5. Vol. 10.).

conclusion lacks scientific validity – as, for instance, if the conclusion that an individual acted irrationally on a certain night is sought to be premised on evidence that the moon was then in a certain phase, <u>see id.</u> at 591 - then to base the conclusion on that evidence violates due process. It would not matter how scrupulous the procedure was for demonstrating what phase the moon phase was in that night if there existed "no creditable grounds supporting ... a link" between the moon phase and irrational behavior. <u>Id.</u>

<u>Cherry</u> permits the State to execute Mr. Nixon on the basis that his IQ is above 70 although below 75. Assuming that fact to be true, there is no scientifically valid link between it and the conclusion sought to be drawn from it, viz. that he is not mentally retarded. To draw the proposed conclusion from the proffered fact would be as irrational – and as violative of due process of law – as rendering a judgment based upon "generally accepted principles or astrology or of necromancy." <u>Kumho Tire v. Carmichael</u>, 526 U.S. 137, 151 (1999).

Indeed, recognizing these concerns, Florida jurisprudence has rejected even the standards of <u>Daubert</u> as too lenient and continued to apply the more stringent pre-existing test under <u>Frye v. United States</u>, 54 App. D.C. 46, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923). <u>See, e.g., Ramirez v. State</u>, 810 So. 2d 836, 843 n.8, 853 (Fla. 2001) (reversing capital murder conviction and death sentence and emphasizing obligation of state courts "especially in a capital case" to "cull scientific fiction and junk science from fact"); <u>Marsh v. Valyou</u>, 917 So. 2d. 313 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005) (no recovery permitted where plaintiff who was concededly in auto accidents and concededly suffered from fibromyalgia could not demonstrate scientifically valid link between the two); <u>Kaelbel Wholesale, Inc. v. Soderstrom</u>, 785 So. 2d 539 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001) (personal injury verdict reversed for lack of valid scientific link between eating fish and developing Guillain-Barre Syndrome).

The <u>Cherry</u> paradigm thus violates the due process standards of the United States Constitution and *a fortiori* Section 9 of Article I of the Florida Constitution.

C. <u>This Court's Construction Of Section 921.137 Creates An Irrebuttable</u> <u>Presumption That Is Constitutionally Impermissible</u>

This Court's presumption that no one with an IQ over 70 is mentally retarded violates Due Process. "[T]he due process clauses of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments set limits upon the power of Congress or that of a state legislature to make the proof of one fact or group of facts evidence of the existence of the ultimate fact on which guilt is predicated." <u>Tot v. U.S.</u>, 319 U.S. 463, 467 (1943). Hence, "[a] statutory presumption cannot be sustained if there be no rational connection between the fact proved and the ultimate fact presumed, if the inference of the one from proof of the other is arbitrary because of lack of connection between the two in common experience." <u>Id.</u> at 467-68 (holding that Congress cannot create the statutory presumption that, "from the prisoner's prior conviction of a crime of violence and his present possession of a firearm or

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