IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOE ELTON NIXON,

Appellant,

V .

CASE NO. SC07-953

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN M. SNURKOWSKI ASST. DEPUTY ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 158541

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

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

Additionally, there is no evidence that Nixon has deficient adaptive functioning. In fact what is outstanding in this record other than the affidavits of Dr. Keyes, is that Nixon has no mental

disease but rather is a manipulative person with a personality disorder with elements of anti-social personality—to wit: a repeat offender who has been in and out of jail or prison his entire life. In a structured environment he is able to adapt to his circumstances and not violate the rules (see prison records where in 1981, Nixon spent four years just prior to this offense in the Department of Corrections on a burglary conviction without disciplinary reports).

Like Zack v. State, 911 So. 2d 1190 (Fla. 2005), Hill v. State, 921 So. 2d 579 (Fla. 2006), and Foster v. State, 929 So. 2d 524 (Fla. 2006), Nixon has not made a prima facie showing that he is entitled to relief on the claim that he is mentally retarded and therefore ineligible to be executed.

ISSUE II

FACTFINDING INFECTED BY LEGAL ERROR AND NOT ENTITLED TO DEFERENCE

Nixon argues here that the trial court gave short order to the testimony of Dr. Keyes and hence, Nixon proclaims that legal error was committed. The record and order of the trial court belies such a contention. The trial court carefully articulated the testimony of the two battling experts and concluded that Dr. Prichard's analysis was sound and compelling and Dr. Keyes's analysis was off the mark. The trial court observed:

Dr. Keyes disputes neither the validity of Dr. Pritchard's administration of the WAIS - III or Dr. Prichard's scoring of Mr. Nixon's test at a full scale IQ of 80. In the absence of some basis to conclude that Mr. Nixon's 2006 score of 80 was materially invalid, Dr. Prichard's testimony is dispositive, although I will address Dr. Keyes's testimony that Mr. Nixon should be ineligible for the death penalty nonetheless.

(MRR Vol 7, p 1239).

The trial court record presents credible, substantial evidence that supports the trial court's conclusion that as to Dr. Keyes:

Dr. Keyes's testimony regarding the proposed treatment of Dr. Prichard's scoring of Mr. Nixon and the other historical scores is essentially an argument for the law to be something other than what it is. Dr. Keyes's testimony that Mr. Nixon scored 68 on the Standford Binet in 1993 is some evidence of mental retardation. However, that evidence is far less convincing than Dr. Prichard's present score and the other historical scores Mr. Nixon achieved all above the statutory threshold. The evidence is insufficient to carry Mr. Nixon's burden of proving even by a preponderance of the evidence that Mr. Nixon is entitled to be excluded from the death penalty.

(MRR Vol. 7, P 1244).

ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADDING A "CULPABILITY" TEST CONTRARY TO <u>ATKINS</u>

Nixon next tries to suggest that the trial court's findings were erroneous when the court stated that there existed other reason for not disqualifying him from the death penalty besides a lack of mental retardation. In this case, the trial court in reviewing Atkins, noted that the Supreme Court opined that mental

retardation might be evidence by "impulsivity or suggestibility" which are "hallmarks of the diminished culpability that renders execution of the mentally retarded cruel and unusual in violation of the Eighth Amendment." (MRR Vol. 7, p 1244).

The trial court noted that the facts of Nixon's crime revealed no evidence of impulsivity or suggestibility, therefore those factors were not a part of any mental retardation analysis.²⁶

The record in Mr. Nixon's case overwhelmingly refutes any

The United States Supreme Court's opinion is likewise replete with conclusions refuting any suggestion that Mr. Nixon's conduct indicated suggestibility or impulsivity. Florida v. Nixon, 543 U.S. 175 (2004). The Court noted Mr. Nixon's confession including that Mr. Nixon resisted Ms. Bickner's pleas for mercy and offers of compensation. The Court likewise noted that Mr. Nixon confessed that he determined to kill Ms. Bickner to avoid prosecution for the abduction. Finally, the Court concluded that, "The State gathered overwhelming evidence establishing that Nixon had committed the murder in the manner he described." Id. at 179-80.

Mr. Nixon's crime suggests neither impulsivity nor suggestibility consistent with diminished moral culpability. As Mr. Nixon stated, he was not persuaded by her pleas for mercy nor her offers of payment of money in exchange for her life. Mr. Nixon was unswayed by Ms. Bickner's agony. He resisted her suggestions because he determined that he had to kill her to try to avoid getting caught for the robbery and abduction. Additionally, he methodically destroyed evidence in the case in an effort to avoid responsibility for these crimes.

There is no evidence other than that Mr. Nixon planned and committed this murder by himself. No other person suggested the murder or encouraged him to commit it in any way. Likewise, the murder took far too long to be consistent with any inference that Mr. Nixon acted on impulse. In addition to the length of time that Mr. Nixon beat and tortured Ms. Bickner, Mr. Nixon was presented with multiple opportunities to restrain himself. Mr. Nixon admitted that Ms. Bickner suggested multiple alternatives to murder and indeed begged for her life. Yet Mr. Nixon could not be persuaded.

ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED <u>ATKINS</u> BY BASING ITS FINDINGS ON NIXON'S CONFESSION

The findings of the trial court that Nixon is not mentally retarded was not premised on Nixon's confession at trial, rather that finding was based on a failure of Nixon to prove he met the three-prongs of the §921.137 Fla. Stat. The record below show that Nixon did not challenge the validity of his confession because of mental retardation or any reason. Further, he did not seek rehearing of the trial court's order below, regarding any reference made to Nixon's confession and therefore, has not preserved this issue for review.²⁷

suggestion of diminished culpability as envisioned by the Supreme Court in Atkinson.(sic)

For all of these reasons, the court concludes that Mr. Nixon failed to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that he should be excluded from eligibility for the death penalty by reason of mental retardation.

(MRR Vol. 7, p 1248).

In Nixon v. State, 572 So. 2d 1336, 1344 (Fla. 1990) the court discussed Nixon's confession finding there had been a valid waiver of Miranda after Nixon was repeatedly informed of those rights:

There is no requirement that an accused be continually reminded of his rights once he has intelligently waived them. Bush v. State, 461 So.2d at 939. Nixon had been given full Miranda warnings on at least four separate occasions prior to his taped confession, twice at the time of his arrest, once in route to the police station, and once at 12:20 p.m. prior to giving the taped confession. Each time he stated that he understood his rights and prior to giving the taped confession he executed a written waiver which has not been challenged.

At the evidentiary hearing below, Nixon was able to present whatever testimony he had available; his focus was Dr. Keyes's testimony, 28 not whether there was any issue with Nixon's taped confession. 29

ISSUE V

REMAND IS NOT REQUIRED FOR A LEGALLY PROPER HEARING BASED ON THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED AS TO NIXON'S MENTAL RETARDATION

Nixon next argues that additional evidence exists to show that he is mentally retarded, relying on evidence that was presented in

Approximately eight hours after giving the taped confession, Detective Livings told Nixon that he had a question to ask him. The detective advised Nixon "that [Nixon] didn't have to talk with [him]; that [Nixon] did not have to give [him] any information; that [Nixon] still had the right to remain silent." After being reminded of his rights, Nixon indicated his willingness to speak with Detective Livings by stating "I got no problems talking with you." Although the detective did not give Nixon a full Miranda warning, the trial court correctly ruled that Nixon understood his rights and knowingly and intelligently waived them prior to the challenged statement and that his statement that he had no problem discussing the case was a valid waiver.

²⁸ <u>See: Nixon v. State</u>, 932 So. 2d at 1019.

In fact, Nixon's recital of these alternative facts surrounding the accuracy of Nixon's confession are found in the statement of the facts in Respondent's Brief in the United States Supreme Court, State v. Nixon, Respondent's Brief 2003 U.S. Briefs 931 (July 2004). (Appellant's Brief pp.27-37). Absent some finding that Nixon's confession was wanting, the trial court was certainly permitted to view that evidence in fully assessing Nixon's mental state.

mitigation at trial and expounded upon by Nixon's counsel in his powerpoint to the court and through Dr. Keyes.

The instant evidence was reviewed by this Court in Nixon's last round of postconviction litigation and found unpersuasive under the challenge there, that counsel was ineffective and Nixon was denied adequate mental health testing. Nixon, 932 So. 2d at 1021.

While admitting that everyone would agree "Nixon's IQ is probably 73," Nixon wants this Court to reinvestigate his facts in light of the rejected testimony of Dr. Keyes. As reported in detail in its statement of the facts, the state through Dr. Prichard, credibly overcame the questionable reasoning of Dr. Keyes and his calculations based on the "Flynn Effect." The trial court after coursing through the testimony found that "Dr. Keyes's testimony is plainly outweighed by Dr. Pritchard's testimony." Dr. Pritchard's unrebutted testimony was that Nixon scored 80 on a test validly administered the year before the hearing.

Nixon is not entitled to remand or further evidentiary hearings on his mental retardation claim. See also: United States v. Webster, 421 F.3d 308, 311-14 (5th Cir. 2005), cert. denied, 127 S.Ct. 45, 166 L.Ed.2d 47, 2006 U.S. LEXIS 5935 (2006), wherein the

court found Dr. Keyes equally incredible in that case as the trial court did here. 30

ISSUE VI

REMAND FOR HEARING FREE OF ERRONEOUS REQUIREMENTS

Nixon'S last claim is a catchall argument regarding his complaints previously made as to the applicability of <u>Cherry</u>, and the issue of whether he has the burden of proof.

A. Bearing Burden of Proof

Nixon argues that the State must bear the burden of proving that he is not retarded under <u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, 536 U.S. 584 (2002). <u>Ring provides no authority for such a contention.³¹ In <u>Harris v. United States</u>, 536 U.S. 545 (2002), the Court made clear that <u>Apprendi</u> does not apply to all factual determinations regarding</u>

³⁰ See footnote 15: In fact, not only were government experts able to refute many of the specific findings obtained from the "Vineland test" administered by Keyes, see Webster v. United States, 2003 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 17383, 2003 WL 23109787 (N.D. Tex. Sept. 30, 2003), but they testified that the test was an inappropriate and deceptive measure of Webster's adaptive skills, given his lifestyle as a drug dealer. Moreover, government experts noted that Webster had shown cleverness and adaptability when he sneaked into the women's portion of the jail in which he was held, concocted cover stories and made excuses to police when he was arrested with a key in his pocket to the motel room in which Lisa Rene was held and raped repeatedly, and burned his clothes to destroy evidence after her murder.

Ring applied Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000), to Arizona's capital sentencing scheme. Apprendi held that other than the fact of a prior conviction, any fact that increases the statutory maximum for an offense must be submitted to the jury.

sentencing; Apprendi only applies to those facts (other than a prior conviction) that increases the statutory maximum. Whether Nixon is mentally retarded does not impact the statutory maximum for first-degree murder; that penalty will not be increased, rather it will decrease the sentence. See Shere v. Moore, 830 So. 2d 56, 61 (Fla. 2002) (death is the statutory maximum for first-degree murder in Florida). See also Bottoson v. Moore, 833 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 2002); Wood v. Allen, 465 F.Supp.2d 1211 (N.D. Ala. 2006) (Apprendi does not apply to Atkins findings.); see: United States v. Webster, 421 F.3d 308, 311-14 (5th Cir. 2005), cert. denied, 127 S.Ct. 45, 166 L.Ed.2d 47, 2006 U.S. LEXIS 5935 (2006).

Nixon argues that <u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), requires a jury must entertain his claim. In <u>Rodriguez v. State</u>, 919 So. 2d 1252, 1267 (Fla. 2005) this court found the same argument meritless:

"Rodriguez also argues that section 921.137, Florida Statutes (2004), which prohibits imposition of the death mentally retarded sentence on defendants, unconstitutional under Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584, 153 L. Ed. 2d 556, 122 S. Ct. 2428 (2002), because it permits a judge to make the factual determination of mental retardation. We have rejected similar claims attempting to "feed Atkins [v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304, 153 L. Ed. 2d 335, 122 S. Ct. 2242 (2002)] through <u>Ring</u>." <u>Arbelaez v.</u> State, 898 So. 2d 25, 2005 Fla. LEXIS 89, 30 Fla. L. Weekly S65, S71 (Fla. Jan. 27, 2005). Rodriguez "has no right under Ring and Atkins to a jury determination of whether he is mentally retarded." <a>Id. Thus, there is no merit to his claim regarding the constitutionality of the statute."

Schriro v. Smith, 546 U.S. 6 (2005) (9th Circuit erred in commanding Arizona courts to conduct a jury trial to resolve mental retardation issue per Apprendi; mental retardation determination does not increase punishment); and Bowling v. Commonwealth, 163 S.W.3d 361 (Kty. 2005).

B. Standard of Proof

There is no question that Nixon bears the burden of proof and, as to what that burden is, the trial court did not rule on the issue because he found that:

For the reasons discussed below, I conclude that Mr. Nixon can carry neither a burden of proof by a preponderance of the evidence or by clear and convincing evidence as to mental retardation. Therefore it is unnecessary to resolve the constitutional issue described by Justice Pariente in her concurrence to the Florida Supreme Court's opinion adopting Rule 3.203.

(MRR Vol. 7, p 1237).

See In re Johnson, 334 F.3d 403, 405 (5th Cir. 2003) (Defendant must carry the burden.); Woods v. Quarterman, 493 F.3d 580 (5th Cir. 2007) (same); Hendrich v. True, 443 F.3d 342 (4th Cir. 2006) (same); Green v. Johnson, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 90644, *109 (E.D. Va. 2006) (same), and People v. Vasquez, 84 P.3d 1019, 1020-21 (Colo. 2004) wherein the Colorado Supreme Court held:

Vasquez requests that this court declare section 18-1.3-1102 unconstitutional. He contends that the prohibition announced in <u>Atkins</u> cannot be sustained by requiring a defendant to bear the burden of proof concerning the fact of mental retardation. Instead, he

insists that it is the prosecution that must prove the defendant's lack of retardation beyond a reasonable doubt.

Alternatively, Vasquez argues that because the Eighth Amendment imposes a categorical bar on the execution of the mentally retarded, it follows that the burden placed on the defendant in 18-1.3-1102 is unconstitutionally high. He states that requiring a defendant to prove his own mental retardation by clear and convincing evidence does not adequately protect the constitutional prohibition heralded by Atkins. Rather, he requests that this court limit the defendant's burden to a preponderance of the evidence standard.

We conclude, however, that because section 18-1.3-1102 merely sets out a process by which a court determines whether a criminal defendant is indeed mentally retarded in order to avoid an unnecessary capital trial, and because nothing in Atkins would prohibit such a process, the statute's allocation of burdens is constitutionally permissible. Further, we also hold that the standard of proof placed upon the defendant - clear and convincing evidence - is constitutionally adequate.

(Emphasis added).

Again here the question of what level of burden must be met is not properly before the Court, since the trial court stated that under any burden Nixon failed at his attempt to present sufficient evidence of mental retardation.

C. Adequacy of Procedure Under Rule 3.203

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